FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 1/6/2025 4:15 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/7/2025 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. Court of Appeals No. 57793-3-II Case #: 1037716

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent

v.

THOMAS BOARDMAN

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITSAP COUNTY

Petition for Review

GREGORY C. LINK JESSICA C. WOLFE Attorneys for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. Introduction

Thomas Boardman sought discovery from his trial after his conviction. The trial court refused his request, concluding no rule which requires it. Division Two of the Court of Appeals affirmed that reasoning, taking an irreconcilable position with that taken by Division Three.

Mr. Boardman asks this Court to accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4 of the Court of Appeals' opinion in his case.

B. Issue Presented

This Court and Court of Appeals have previously held that CrR 4.7, governing discovery in criminal cases, continues to apply even after the trial has begun. Yet, here the trial court denied Mr. Boardman's request for discovery, categorically ruling there is no provision for discovery post-trial. The Court of Appeals affirmed that decision, contrary to decisions of this Court and other opinions of the Court of Appeals.

C. Statement of the Case

Mr. Boardman was convicted in 2017. In 2022, Mr. Boardman filed a motion requesting his client file from his attorney and requested discovery from the prosecutor. CP 6-10.

Defense counsel provided Mr. Boardman their file. CP 13-14. The prosecutor insisted they had no obligation to do anything, claiming there is no right to discovery after trial. CP 11-12.

The court concluded Mr. Boardman had no right to anything more than what he had already received from defense counsel. RP 11-12.

D. Argument

Divisions Two and Three of the Court of Appeals having taken contradictory positions regarding the applicability of CrR 4.7 to posttrial proceedings.

Court rules are interpreted using the rules of statutory construction. *State v. Blilie*, 132 Wn.2d 484, 492, 939 P.2d 691 (1997). There is no need to construe a statute or rule that is

plain and unambiguous. *State v. Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d 723, 727, 63 P.3d 792 (2003); *State v. Wilson*, 125 Wn.2d 212, 217, 883 P.2d 320 (1994). A court may not add terms to an unambiguous statute or rule. *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318, 320 (2003).

CrR. 4.7 contains no temporal limitation on its reach. Nowhere does the rule say it applies only before trial. Indeed, it is clear the rule creates a continuing duty to disclose information. *State v. Greiff*, 141 Wn.2d 910, 919, 10 P.3d 390 (2000).

Courts have regularly applied the provisions of CrR 4.7 after convictions. For example, in *State v. Padgett*, the Court of Appeals concluded CrR 4.7(h)(3) together with RPC 1.16 required trial counsel to disclose discovery to their client when the client request a copy of the client file after trial. 4 Wn. App. 2d 851, 854-55, 424 P.2d 1235 (2018).

Nonetheless, in *State v. Asaeli*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 697, 699, 491 P.3d 245, *rev. denied*, 198 Wn.2d 1026 (2021), Division

Two concluded the provisions of CrR 4.7 do not apply postconviction. Division Two made no effort to explain why some provisions of the rule apply after trial has commenced while others do not. Nor does the opinion make any effort to delineate which provision might fall in each of these undefined categories.

Division Three echoed those criticisms and questioned the overly simplified analysis of *Asaeli* and that opinion's failure to recognize the rule's application at stages beyond the pretrial stage. *State v. Murry*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 940, 948, 523 P.3d 794 (2023). As *Murry* points out, *Padgett* in fact requires application of CrR 4.7 post-trial. *Asaeli* is a poorly reasoned decision which ignores the plain language and scope of the rule. There is no time limit on the discovery obligation in CrR 4.7.

But the Court of Appeals cling to *Asaeli's* myopic reading of CrR 4.7. Opinion at 2-3. In a footnote, the opinion simply brushes *Padgett* and *Murry* aside and Division Three's criticism of *Asaeli* as inapplicable. It is true, as the opinion says, *Padgett* and *Murry* concerned a request for discovery in defense counsel's file. But that is neither here nor there. If *Asaeli* is correct that CrR 4.7 has no applicability postconviction, than *Murry* and *Padgett* are incorrect that CrR 4.7 required defense counsel to redact the discovery postconviction before giving it to their client. Conversely, if Division Three's opinion in *Murry* is correct, than Division Two's reasoning in *Asaeli* and this case is incorrect.

Either CrR 4.7 applies post-conviction or it does not. When faced with that same question, Divisions Two and Three have taken contradictory positions. When such conflicts exist "this [C]ourt has a duty to resolve" them. *In the Matter of Arnold*, 190 Wn.2d 136, 150-51, 410 P.3d 1133 (2018) (citing RAP 13.4). Review is warranted in this case.

E. Conclusion

This Court must resolve the conflict between Divisions Three and Two. This Court should grant review in this case.

This brief contains 777 words and complies with RAP 18.17.