FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/24/2025 12:49 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

## NO. 103771-6

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

## STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

THOMAS BOARDMAN, Petitioner.

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II Court of Appeals No. 57793-3-II Kitsap County Superior Court No. 17-1-01192-2

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHAD M. ENRIGHT Prosecuting Attorney

JOHN L. CROSS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366

#

#### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The respondent is the State of Washington. The answer is filed by Kitsap County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney John L. Cross.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State respectfully requests that this Court deny review of the Court of Appeals unpublished decision in *State v*. *Boardman*, No. 57793-3-II, filed December 10, 2024, a copy of which is attached to the petition for review.

## **III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

The Court of Appeals, in conformity with well-established principles held that CrR 4.7 does not impose a discovery obligation on the state to provided Boardman with discovery post-conviction and that Boardman failed to show the required good cause for discovery under appellate rules. Boardman argues only RAP 13.4(b)(2), asserting that the present decision "is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals." The question presented is thus whether this Court should decline to accept review because that criterion is not met.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Boardman pled guilty to first degree child rape. *See* Order Dismissing Petition, April 29, 2024, No. 59404-8-II. No appeal was taken. Each of Boardman's attempts to collaterally attack his conviction have failed. The most recent petition rejected various substantive claims, including ineffective assistance of counsel, because the claims are time barred. Id.

Here, Boardman properly asked the trial court to order his trial attorney to provide his file. At hearing on the motion, the trial court noted the presence of Boardman's trial attorney and that that attorney had provided a copy of his file to Boardman. RP 4. His attorney stated that his entire "unredacted" file had been sent to both an attorney and to Boardman. RP 11. Here, Boardman admits that he received this file.

But in addition, Boardman sought extensive discovery

from the state. The requests, without repeating each, range from information that would never be in the state's possession to nonsense like any and all information about the judgment and sentence in the case. CP 6-10. The motion alleges generally that the information sought is necessary "[f]or purposes of pending collateral attack." CP 10.

The trial court heard arguments that the state should provide discovery. Boardman again alleged that the discovery is needed for preparation of post-conviction litigation. RP 5. He alleged no fact that he hopes to find that would support a collateral attack on the judgment and sentence. The trial court ruled that Boardman sought relief under the "rules of discovery" and "under that theory of law" the motion was denied. RP 12.

On direct appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court.

#### V. ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION BECAUSE THE DECISION IS CORRECT AND THE DECISION IN IN ACCORD WITH OTHER DECISIONS OF THE COURT OF APPEALS ADDRESSING THE SAME ISSUE.

# 1. The decision below was correct on the record presented.

Below Boardman argued both that CrR 4.7 provides for discovery obligations even after conviction and that he had met the standards to establish a discovery obligation in a collateral attack proceeding. Slip. Op. at 2. The Court properly applied abuse of discretion to the superior court's discovery ruling but reviewed the question of the applicability of the court rule to the present facts de novo. Id.

The Court below first observed that Boardman's interpretation of CrR 4.7 "has already been rejected multiple times." Slip. Op. at 2. The Court cited *State v. Albright*, 25 Wn. App. 2d 840, 842, 525 P.3d 984, *review denied*, 1 Wn.3d 1023 (2023), where Division Three of the Court of Appeals squarely

held that "the State's discovery obligations end once a person is convicted." Id. Division Two cited its own prior decision in *State v. Asaeli*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 697, 491 P.3d 245, *review denied*, 198 Wn.2d 1026 (2021), there holding that CrR 4.7 imposes no further obligation after trial. The Court below found that Boardman failed to persuade that Court that these precedents do not control the question.

Second, the Court below rejected Boardman's claim that due process entitled him to post-conviction discovery. Slip. Op. at 3. The Court cited the rule:

[f]rom a due process standpoint, prisoners seeking post[]conviction relief are not entitled to discovery as a matter of ordinary course, but are limited to discovery only to the extent the prisoner can show good cause to believe the discovery would prove entitlement to relief.

In re Personal Restraint of Gentry, 137 Wn.2d 378, 390-91, 972

P.2d 1250 (1999). On this record, the Court held

it is Boardman's burden to show that he has good cause to believe the discovery would prove entitlement to relief, and, beyond just generally alleging that he needed the materials to support a future personal restraint petition, he made no effort to do so below. Slip. Op. at 3. Thus, Boardman's due process claim was rejected because he failed to establish "good cause to believe discovery would prove entitlement to relief." Id.

A prisoner sought discovery under CrR 4.7 years after conviction in *State v. Asaeli*, 17 Wn. App.2d 697, 491 P.3d 245 (2021) *review denied* 198 Wn.2d 1026 (2021). The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's denial of the motion. 17 Wn. App.2d at 700. The Court applied abuse of discretion as the standard of review but added that "whether a court rule applies to a particular fact scenario is a question of law we review de novo." *Asaeli*, 17 Wn. App.2d at 699.

The *Asaeli* Court held: "We conclude that CrR 4.7 does not apply to postconviction proceedings." Id. The Court noted that due process does not entitle a prisoner to discovery "as a matter of ordinary course" but "only to the extent the prisoner can show good cause to believe the discovery would prove entitlement to relief." Id.

6

Boardman claims that the *Asaeli* court got it wrong by failing to note that "CrR 4.7 contains no temporal limitations on its reach." Petition at 3. In fact, the *Asaeli* Court properly placed rule 4.7 in its context—the title "Procedures Prior to Trial" in Title 4 of the Superior Court Criminal Rules "indicates that the Supreme Court intended CrR 4.7 to apply to pretrial discovery procedures, not after a defendant has been convicted." 17 Wn. App.2d at 700.

State v. Albright, 25 Wn. App.2d 840, 525 P.3d 984 (2023) review denied 1 Wn.3d 1023 (2023) reached the same conclusion. Albright pled guilty to first degree assault and sought post-conviction discovery under CrR 4.7. 25 Wn. App.2d at 841. Here, as well as reliance on the court rule, Albright argued that the holding *State v. Padgett*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 851, 424 P.3d 1235 (2018), concerning defense counsel's post-conviction obligations, should apply to the prosecution.

The Albright Court disagreed with the Asaeli Court's

scope of the rule holding because some of the provisions of CrR 4.7 apply to situations during trial, not just pretrial. 4 Wn. App.2d at 843, ftnt. 3. But that observation did not change the conclusion that "court rules such as CrR 4.7 do not govern a defendant's request for postconviction discovery from the State." 25 Wn. App.2d at 843

Moreover, the procedural posture of the case makes it unlikely that Boardman can find entitlement to relief. Boardman's guilty plea matters. By entering a plea agreement with the state and pleading guilty, Boardman waived appeal of pretrial discovery claims. In plea bargaining, "a condition insisted on by the State that requires a defendant to give up a constitutional right does not, by itself, violate due process" and the "theoretical basis for all plea bargaining is that defendants will agree to waive their constitutional rights." *State v. Moen*, 150 Wn.2d 221, 230-31, 76 P.3d 721 (2003); *see also, State v. Shelmidine*, 166 Wn. App. 107, 269 P.3d 362 (2012) (counsel not ineffective for counselling guilty plea without knowing identity of, or having interviewed, state's confidential informant).

By his guilty plea, Boardman waived his right to trial and, since there was no trial, he waived all attendant trial rights. "When a defendant pleads guilty he or she, of course, forgoes not only a fair trial, but also other accompanying constitutional guarantees." United States v. Ruiz, 536 U.S. 622, 628, 122 S. Ct. 2450, 153 L.Ed.2d 586 (2002). In Ruiz, a plea bargain where the prosecution withheld impeachment evidence and "information the government had regarding any affirmative defense [defendant] would raise at trial" was not unconstitutional. 536 U.S. at 633; see also In re Keene, 95 Wn.2d 203, 205, 622 P.2d 360 (1980) (a guilty plea does not preclude an appeal as to the circumstances under which the plea was made but does preclude an appeal as to pretrial rulings); *State v. Bailey*, 53 Wn. App. 905, 907, 771 P.2d 766 (1989) ("A voluntary guilty plea waives all defenses other than that the complaint, information, or indictment charges no offense.").

Boardman's ability to collaterally attack evidentiary issues that may underlying his judgment and sentence is seriously limited. Where nothing was litigated at trial, it cannot be established that something was erroneously litigated. Moreover, as can be seen in the disposition of Boardman's most recent collateral attack, most if not all such claims are subject to the time-bar in RCW 10.73.090(1). Order of April 29, 2024, *supra*.

Finally, with no reference to *State v. Albright, supra,* Boardman argues that the cases are inconsistent with cases establishing defense counsel's postconviction obligations-- *State v. Padgett*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 851, 424 P.3d 1235 (2018) and *State v. Murry*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 940, 948, 523 P.3d 794 (2023).

In the present case, the Cout of Appeals correctly noted that *Padgett* and *Murry* resolve a different question: "those cases are inapplicable because they address defense counsel's obligations to their clients, not the State's discovery obligations." Slip. Op. at 3, ftnt. 1. The *Albright* Court held that *Padget* obligates defense counsel to provide copies of her file upon request primarily because of counsel's ongoing duty to her client

under RPC 1.16(d). However,

The State, on the other hand, does not have obligations to criminally accused persons akin to those of legal counsel. In a criminal case, the State is the defendant's party opponent. The State has an obligation to produce discovery during the pendency of a criminal case. See CrR 4.7(a); *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963). This is a fundamental component of litigation, civil or criminal. But once a case is over, the State's ordinary discovery obligations end. This is true even if a conviction is appealed or challenged through a personal restraint petition.

Albright, 25 Wn. App.2d at 842 (footnote omitted).

There is no conflict in the decisions of the appellate courts. Defense counsel is obligated by professional ethics to provide her file upon the client's request postconviction. Compliance will include those materials that defense counsel received pretrial under CrR 4.7 as well as, for instance, investigative materials generated by the defense and not shared with the prosecution. The state as party opponent has no such ethical obligations.

No conflict in published cases is shown. Boardman argues no other reason for review. The courts below, including the present court, provide well-reasoned decisions that squarely resolve the issue. Review is unnecessary and should be denied.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the Court deny Boardman's petition for review.

## I. CERTIFICATION

This document contains 1911 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.